
THE PLACE-NAMES 

OF STRETHALL

Recorder: Drs. Mary Hesse & David Melford 

Essex Place-names Project (Essex Society for Archaeology & History)

Essex Record Office e-book, 2nd edition, 2011. (1st edition in hard copy 1998). 

www.essex.ac.uk/history/esah/essexplacenames
[image: image1.png]The Essex Place-names Project is grateful for sponsorship from

A The Essex Society
, " For Archaeology & History

Formerly The Essex Archacological Society Founded 1852

PATRON: THE LORD LIEUTERANT OF ESSEX

Essex County Councit

‘ Loc
tor Locy,

AWARDS
FOR ALL

COUNCIL FOR BRITiISH
ARCHAEOLOGY




ESSEX PLACE-NAMES PROJECT.

The Essex Place-names Project is a County-wide survey to record place- and field-names from historical documents such as Tithe maps and apportionments, estate 

maps, sale and auction catalogues, conveyances, terriers, deeds, rolls, inquisitions and surveys.

The second element of the Project is to investigate on-the-ground visible remains which correspond to the Place-names for actual or potential archaeological, agricultural and industrial 

sites, and to record natural (topographical) and man-made features which may relate to the Place-name. This involves field-survey in rural and outside investigation in built-up areas.

It is anticipated that the Project will lead to identification of archaeological sites and lost historic buildings;  it will enable analysis of indicators of early settlement, land  holding, agricultural and industrial practices of the County.  It will refine the more precise meaning of descriptive words and elements used by earlier settlers as they gave names appropriate to the topography of the landscape of their time.

For convenience the surveys are based on the parish, recognising that present civil parish boundaries are not necessarily identical to former ecclesiastical boundaries.  Local Recorders 

are supplied with templates of Record Forms to ensure consistency of recording across the County, and forward completed forms to a Central Coordinator for  transfer to a county 

computer database which is available at the Essex Record Office to researchers. 

This publication presents part of the information recorded from the Tithe or Estate Award and Map, (and from other documents for this parish.) The full record is contained on the master 

database in the Essex Record Office, Wharf Road, Chelmsford CM2 6YT and the website www.essex.ac.uk/history/esah/essexplacenames. Parish books are available from the ERO on disc or in hard copy or may be downloaded from the website. Please notify errors to the Project Coordinator at the Essex Record Office. 

      THE TITHE  MAP AND APPORTIONMENT.
Since medieval times a tenth of the produce of land and stock had been paid by landholders to the church.  At the Dissolution of the  Monasteries, the property of many religious houses, 

including the right to collect tithes, passed into lay hands.  The Tithe Commutation Act which received Royal assent on 13th August 1836 abolished a rent payable in kind and 

substituted rent-charges apportioned on each plot or parcel. The tithe-rent  payable was assessed on the average value of  wheat, barley and oats and was to fluctuate with price movements.

The commutation could be by voluntary agreement between the local owners and payers or, if agreement failed, could be compulsorily imposed by commissioners.  A Valuer was to be 

appointed to apportion the rent of each parcel of land and tenants could deduct that rent-charge from their rent paid to the landlord.  The task fell to the Tithe Commissioners to produce a 

map and an Apportionment (Award).  A large-scale survey was produced for over 70% of England and Wales in the following 9 years, and about another 8% up to 1855. Most of the 

parishes in Essex were surveyed.  The map scales vary. The Award records ownership, tenancy and land-use, field by field and parcel by parcel (often quoting the field name) with the 

ground area and rent-charge.  

Land that was tithe-free tends to be less accurately mapped and contains few if any of the details recorded for those parcels subject to tithe.  Rights of way and  roads also tend to be 

neglected. Boundaries of the tithe areas are shown as are some natural features such as streams, ponds, gardens, greens and commons. Buildings are often shown coloured red if dwellings 

or grey if  not.  Because the Award may have been agreed only some time after the map was finished, discrepancies occur between the two.  Enclosure Awards, when extant, usually date to the 18th and early 19th centuries.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 J.Kemble.
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Strethall Tithe Award (Essex Record Office D/CT339; Public Record Office [R/30/12324), called “Streethall”, dated 1848, was authenticated by Thomas J Tatham,
Assistant Commissioner, Martin Nockold, Apportioner, and by TW Buller and (Rev) R Jones, Commissioners. The Map, measuring 49”x25”, was surveyed at 3 chains to
the inch, 26.6” = 1mile. It shows a number of large fields containing numbered strips for which evidence remains in the form of lynchets. There is disparity between the
naming of one the largest fields which is called Meadow Field in the Award and Middle Field on the Map. The total size of the parish was reckoned at 608 acres, one rood, 19
perches. 538 acres were arable, 35 acres meadow, 34 woodland and 48 glebe, producing a rent-charge of £151-10-0 plus £13-4-0 for glebe payable to the Rector.

Strethall, one of the smallest parishes in Essex, lies in the extreme north-west of the county, next to the Cambridgeshire border. Today it consists of no more than twelve
households, but nevertheless has a history traceable to before Domesday. In 1008 AD, King Aethelred granted Abbot Aeclsinus of Ely ten hides of land here which before
1086 were divided equally between Strethall and the parish of Littlebury. The ten hides were part of a parcel of 19 “for the possession of which the abbot, who is named
Aelsinus, has paid to the aforesaid king nine pounds of the purest gold according to the weight used by the Normans”. Reckoning a hide as about 120 acres, five hides (about
600 acres) remained the area of Strethall until the latter part of the 19th century when a small addition of 23 acres brought it to its present extent, little changed over a
thousand years (Liber Eliensis). The line of the Roman road from Braughing to Great Chesterford passes through Strethall. The Saxons built a church. The village’s existance
owes much to its local geography. This northwestern corner of Essex is characterised by chalk hills on top of which glaciers from the last ice age have left a layer of boulder
clay. The hills rise to 400 feet, positively mountainous when compared to the flatness of the fens only a few miles away to the north. 12 miles away the market square in
Cambridge is a mere thirty feet above sea-level and at least 50 miles from the sea. This results in extremely sluggish river flows. The clay-bearing hilltops were heavily
wooded and the lighter soil on the chalk slopes was more easily cleared and tilled. Springs occur at the boundary between clay and chalk, and a hole dug almost anywhere in
the clay would retain water to form a useful pond. Settlement in the Iron Age was therefore at the edge of woodland which provided timber and brushwood for fuel, huts and

hurdles, and close to chalk slopes where cattle and sheep could be pastured or the light chalky soil be cultivated, especially on the south facing slopes (Williamson, 1986).

Strethall is well located strategically with excellent views over the flat country to the north and, down the vale, towards Great Chesterford in the east. The ford at Great

Chesterford was of sufficient strategic importance to the Romans for a town of some significance to grow there. The approach to the ford over firm ground was as important
as the river crossing itself. Strethall at present consists predominantly of two groups of dwellings, those around the church, and South Strethall, six houses lying along Pipers
Lane separated from the church group by the tip of the chalk vale leading down to Great Chesterford. Fieldwalking suggests that, at least as far back as the Iron Age, there
have been two separate centres of habitation (Williamson, 1986). Over the past nine hundred years, the manor and parish have been virtually synonymous. Morant (1768),
after noting the transfer of one carucate of land in 1262, comments “there was then, and since, but one Maner in this parish; and the Mansion house stands near the church”.
The manor did not come to an end until 4th March 1905 with the enfranchisement of the last piece of copyhold land. Throughout manorial times the main occupations have
been husbandry and spinning, the chalk slopes providing ideal grazing. Only in the 19th century is any occupation other than agricultural recorded. A shoemaker,
dressmaker and schoolmistress were then resident here. Morant (1768) also records that the View of Frankpledge and Court-Baron was held for the manor on 28th September
1573. This is more than a hundred years before the earliest Court of which a complete record still survives (12th April 1697). Nevertheless the Bodleian Library at Oxford
possesses the Record Book of Crawley’s steward which contains notes of that 1573 meeting from which the Court Roll was to be constructed. Two who were present in this
Court, Henry Swallowe and George Pomfret, were still remembered amost three hundred years later in the field names Pomfrets and Swallows Bottom. It was at that Court
that Pomfret sold a triangular piece of land which still bore his name in 1848 and is clearly recognisable today. A John Felsted was also present and perhaps Felsted Lane
and Felsted Croft Grove just across the boundary in Littlebury owe their names to him (Record Book). In the last 900 years there have been occasions when there was debate
as to who owned Strethall. Kings and noblemen confiscated it, rented it, bequeathed it, bestowed it, usurped it or given it in dower, but noboby, until a civil servant in 1983,
had seriously proposed to abolish it. Fortunately the unanimous opposition of ratepayers averted this threat and Stethall remains an independant parish to this day.

Record Book. Bodleian Library, Oxford. MS Rawl. B318, p153-8.

References: Liber Eliensis, Blake, EO, 1962, Royal Historical Society, London.
Williamson, T. 1986. Essex Archaeolgy & History, 17, 123.

Morant, P. 1768. History & Antiquities of.. Essex.

The parish was farmed in the open-field system. The following record amalgamates the Field Numbers of parcels in the same open-field into one entry. M .Hesse.





The Tithe Award Place-names of Strethall – by Parcel No.
	 Place-name
	Alias
	Fld No
	Grd Ref
	x
	y
	Place Type
	Acr
	rd
	pch
	Land use
	Owner
	Occupier
	Other information

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Streathall Wood
	
	1
	TL
	483
	399
	Wood
	30
	3
	1
	Wood
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	Abuttals to E are: 18 Acres, Sour Close, Home Pasture, Burnt Close.

	Sour Close
	
	2
	TL
	484
	400
	Close
	6
	0
	36
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Church Field and Grove
	
	5
	TL
	484
	400
	Close
	3
	1
	29
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Home Pasture
	
	6
	TL
	484
	399
	Close
	5
	3
	1
	Pasture
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Burnt Grove
	
	7
	TL
	484
	397
	Wood
	1
	1
	6
	Wood
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Burnt Close
	
	8
	TL
	483
	397
	Close
	2
	1
	12
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Oak Pasture
	
	9
	TL
	484
	396
	Close
	6
	1
	17
	Pasture
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Round Grove
	
	10
	TL
	484
	395
	Wood
	2
	1
	11
	Wood
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Pot Ash Close
	
	11
	TL
	485
	395
	Close
	4
	2
	34
	Pasture
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	Northern part is 'Pipers' (1 acre, Rolls, 1791)

	Pasture and Grove
	
	14
	TL
	486
	395
	Close
	7
	1
	35
	Pasture
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Pomfretts
	
	17
	TL
	487
	396
	Close
	0
	3
	21
	Pasture
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	George Pomfret, 1573, Bodleian

	Dovehouse Field & Grove
	
	18
	TL
	486
	398
	Field
	8
	0
	8
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Great Batts (two adjacent parts)
	
	19,21
	TL
	487
	398
	Field
	36
	2
	3
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	2 adjacent pts of field are split into 19a 1r 24p and 17a 19p.

	Long Pen
	
	20
	TL
	487
	400
	Field
	2
	2
	28
	Pasture
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Side Hill
	
	22
	TL
	492
	402
	Field
	17
	1
	15
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	The Eighteen Acres & Headland
	
	23,25
	TL
	487
	401
	Field
	17
	3
	0
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	Fields are split into 17a 8p and 2r 32p.

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Tare Pen Shot
	
	24, 26-29
	TL
	486
	403
	Field
	11
	2
	5
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Lower Eighteen Acre Shot
	
	30-40
	TL
	487
	403
	Field
	28
	3
	17
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt); Perry, Rebecca (pt)
	
	

	Fox Hole Pen
	
	41
	TL
	493
	404
	Field
	1
	2
	11
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Claypit Shot
	
	43-50
	TL
	494
	402
	Field
	17
	0
	7
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Fulbourne Shot
	
	51-57
	TL
	495
	405
	Field
	19
	2
	7
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Outside Shot (pt)
	
	58-64
	TL
	496
	407
	Field
	25
	2
	10
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Outside Shot (pt)
	
	67-73
	TL
	493
	409
	Field
	4
	1
	4
	Arable
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Short Bottom
	
	66
	TL
	495
	410
	Field
	0
	2
	23
	Arable
	FORESTER, EBENEZER
	Forester, Ebenezer
	

	Little Field
	
	65, 81, 74-84
	TL
	492
	407
	Field
	33
	0
	23
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	Abuttals of field to E. are Outside Shot (1), Fulbourne Shot, Foxhall Pen, Claypit Shot. Fld Nos 65,81,84 owned by W. Forbes.

	Fifteen Acre Shot
	
	85-92
	TL
	489
	407
	Field
	30
	0
	21
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Meadow Field
	
	93-131, 134-150
	TL
	490
	414
	Field
	125
	3
	39
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah & Rebecca; Wakefield, Robert (pt) 
	Perry, Nehemiah & Rebecca; another
	

	Coplar Pen (part of)
	
	132
	TL
	493
	418
	Field
	2
	1
	16
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Coplar Pen (part of)
	
	133
	TL
	493
	420
	Field
	10
	1
	20
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Hart Piece
	
	151
	TL
	491
	408
	
	7
	1
	36
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Mile Bush Shot
	
	152-168
	TL
	404
	411
	Field
	20
	3
	31
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes; Perry, Nehemiah & Rebecca
	Perry,Nehemiah & Rebecca
	

	Swallows Bottom
	
	169-177, 197-8
	TL
	496
	413
	Field
	27
	1
	36
	Arable
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert; Hancett, John
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert; Hancett, John
	Henry Swallowe, 1573, Bodleian. 

	Gypson Hedge Shot
	
	178-181
	TL
	493
	410
	Field
	13
	0
	33
	Arable
	Perry, Nehemiah & Rebecca
	Perry,Nehemiah & Rebecca
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Coplar Bank Shot
	
	182-196
	TL
	493
	414
	Field
	24
	0
	24
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes; Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert
	"Coplar" is Coploe Hill. Coplowe Field,Shot, Penn in 1653, 1749 (Private collection, David Melford, Manor Rolls)

	Coplar Hill Shot
	
	199, 202-9, 211-215, 218-223, 226   
	TL
	496
	418
	Field
	32
	0
	14
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes; Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert
	

	Coplar Hill
	
	200-1, 210, 216-7, 224-5, 227
	TL
	496
	421
	Field
	13
	1
	8
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes; Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert; Forester, Ebenezer
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert; Forester, Ebenezer
	

	Church Lane
	
	
	TL
	486
	397
	Lane
	0
	0
	0
	
	
	
	

	Pipers Lane
	
	
	TL
	485
	396
	Lane
	0
	0
	0
	
	
	
	

	Debdenfield
	
	
	TL
	442
	413
	Field
	129
	1
	15
	
	Brand, Thos; Martins Charity
	
	

	Maple Stile Field
	
	
	TL
	455
	415
	Field
	338
	0
	0
	
	Tithe Improprietors
	
	Area to S now in Elmdon, bounded by steep bank,?old par bdy.Also par bdy bank between Chrishall & Ickleton (TL4541).

	Mill Field
	
	
	TL
	448
	413
	Field
	144
	3
	25
	
	Tithe Improprietors; Vicar for Tithes
	
	

	Tileburn Field
	
	
	TL
	449
	389
	Field
	5
	0
	0
	
	Various
	
	

	Slade Field
	Waterslade Feylde (1592 Survey)
	
	TL
	438
	380
	Field
	28
	1
	6
	
	Brand, Thos
	
	


For abbreviations see Reaney, P., Place-names of Essex, Cambridge, 1935; and Kemble, J., Essex Place-names, Places, Streets & People, Historical Publications, London, 2007.

The Tithe Award Place-names of Strethall – by Place-name.
	Place-name
	Alias
	Fld No
	Grd Ref
	x
	y
	Place Type
	Acr
	rd
	pch
	Land use
	Owner
	Occupier
	Other information

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Burnt Close
	
	8
	TL
	483
	397
	Close
	2
	1
	12
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Burnt Grove
	
	7
	TL
	484
	397
	Wood
	1
	1
	6
	Wood
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Church Field and Grove
	
	5
	TL
	484
	400
	Close
	3
	1
	29
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Church Lane
	
	
	TL
	486
	397
	Lane
	0
	0
	0
	
	
	
	

	Claypit Shot
	
	43-50
	TL
	494
	402
	Field
	17
	0
	7
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Coplar Bank Shot
	
	182-196
	TL
	493
	414
	Field
	24
	0
	24
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes; Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert
	"Coplar" is Coploe Hill. Coplowe Field,Shot, Penn in 1653, 1749 (Private collection, David Melford, Manor Rolls)

	Coplar Hill
	
	200-1, 210, 216-7, 224-5, 227
	TL
	496
	421
	Field
	13
	1
	8
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes; Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert; Forester, Ebenezer
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert; Forester, Ebenezer
	

	Coplar Hill Shot
	
	199, 202-9, 211-215, 218-223, 226   
	TL
	496
	418
	Field
	32
	0
	14
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes; Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert
	

	Coplar Pen (part of)
	
	132
	TL
	493
	418
	Field
	2
	1
	16
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Coplar Pen (part of)
	
	133
	TL
	493
	420
	Field
	10
	1
	20
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Debdenfield
	
	
	TL
	442
	413
	Field
	129
	1
	15
	
	Brand, Thos; Martins Charity
	
	

	Dovehouse Field & Grove
	
	18
	TL
	486
	398
	Field
	8
	0
	8
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Fifteen Acre Shot
	
	85-92
	TL
	489
	407
	Field
	30
	0
	21
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Fox Hole Pen
	
	41
	TL
	493
	404
	Field
	1
	2
	11
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Fulbourne Shot
	
	51-57
	TL
	495
	405
	Field
	19
	2
	7
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Great Batts (two adjacent parts)
	
	19,21
	TL
	487
	398
	Field
	36
	2
	3
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	2 adjacent pts of field are split into 19a 1r 24p and 17a 19p.

	Gypson Hedge Shot
	
	178-181
	TL
	493
	410
	Field
	13
	0
	33
	Arable
	Perry, Nehemiah & Rebecca
	Perry,Nehemiah & Rebecca
	

	Hart Piece
	
	151
	TL
	491
	408
	
	7
	1
	36
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Home Pasture
	
	6
	TL
	484
	399
	Close
	5
	3
	1
	Pasture
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Little Field
	
	65, 81, 74-84
	TL
	492
	407
	Field
	33
	0
	23
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	Abuttals of field to E. are Outside Shot (1), Fulbourne Shot, Foxhall Pen, Claypit Shot. Fld Nos 65,81,84 owned by W. Forbes.

	Long Pen
	
	20
	TL
	487
	400
	Field
	2
	2
	28
	Pasture
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Lower Eighteen Acre Shot
	
	30-40
	TL
	487
	403
	Field
	28
	3
	17
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt); Perry, Rebecca (pt)
	
	

	Maple Stile Field
	
	
	TL
	455
	415
	Field
	338
	0
	0
	
	Tithe Improprietors
	
	Area to S now in Elmdon, bounded by steep bank,?old par bdy.Also par bdy bank between Chrishall & Ickleton (TL4541).

	Meadow Field
	
	93-131, 134-150
	TL
	490
	414
	Field
	125
	3
	39
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah & Rebecca; Wakefield, Robert (pt) 
	Perry, Nehemiah & Rebecca; another
	

	Mile Bush Shot
	
	152-168
	TL
	404
	411
	Field
	20
	3
	31
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes; Perry, Nehemiah & Rebecca
	Perry,Nehemiah & Rebecca
	

	Mill Field
	
	
	TL
	448
	413
	Field
	144
	3
	25
	
	Tithe Improprietors; Vicar for Tithes
	
	

	Oak Pasture
	
	9
	TL
	484
	396
	Close
	6
	1
	17
	Pasture
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Outside Shot (pt)
	
	67-73
	TL
	493
	409
	Field
	4
	1
	4
	Arable
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Outside Shot (pt)
	
	58-64
	TL
	496
	407
	Field
	25
	2
	10
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Pasture and Grove
	
	14
	TL
	486
	395
	Close
	7
	1
	35
	Pasture
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Pipers Lane
	
	
	TL
	485
	396
	Lane
	0
	0
	0
	
	
	
	

	Pomfretts
	
	17
	TL
	487
	396
	Close
	0
	3
	21
	Pasture
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	George Pomfret, 1573, Bodleian

	Pot Ash Close
	
	11
	TL
	485
	395
	Close
	4
	2
	34
	Pasture
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	Northern part is 'Pipers' (1 acre, Rolls, 1791)

	Round Grove
	
	10
	TL
	484
	395
	Wood
	2
	1
	11
	Wood
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Short Bottom
	
	66
	TL
	495
	410
	Field
	0
	2
	23
	Arable
	FORESTER, EBENEZER
	Forester, Ebenezer
	

	Side Hill
	
	22
	TL
	492
	402
	Field
	17
	1
	15
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Slade Field
	Waterslade Feylde (1592 Survey)
	
	TL
	438
	380
	Field
	28
	1
	6
	
	Brand, Thos
	
	

	Sour Close
	
	2
	TL
	484
	400
	Close
	6
	0
	36
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Streathall Wood
	
	1
	TL
	483
	399
	Wood
	30
	3
	1
	Wood
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	Abuttals to E are: 18 Acres, Sour Close, Home Pasture, Burnt Close.

	Swallows Bottom
	
	169-177, 197-8
	TL
	496
	413
	Field
	27
	1
	36
	Arable
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert; Hancett, John
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert; Hancett, John
	Henry Swallowe, 1573, Bodleian. 

	Tare Pen Shot
	
	24, 26-29
	TL
	486
	403
	Field
	11
	2
	5
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	The Eighteen Acres & Headland
	
	23,25
	TL
	487
	401
	Field
	17
	3
	0
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	Fields are split into 17a 8p and 2r 32p.

	Tileburn Field
	
	
	TL
	449
	389
	Field
	5
	0
	0
	
	Various
	
	


For abbreviations see Reaney, P., Place-names of Essex, Cambridge, 1935; and Kemble, J., Essex Place-names, Places, Streets & People, Historical Publications, London, 2007.

The Tithe Award Place-names of Strethall – by Owner.

	Place-name
	Alias
	Fld No
	Grd Ref
	x
	y
	Place Type
	Acr
	rd
	pch
	Land use
	Owner
	Occupier
	Other information

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Church Lane
	
	
	TL
	486
	397
	Lane
	0
	0
	0
	
	
	
	

	Pipers Lane
	
	
	TL
	485
	396
	Lane
	0
	0
	0
	
	
	
	

	Slade Field
	Waterslade Feylde (1592 Survey)
	
	TL
	438
	380
	Field
	28
	1
	6
	
	Brand, Thos
	
	

	Debdenfield
	
	
	TL
	442
	413
	Field
	129
	1
	15
	
	Brand, Thos; Martins Charity
	
	

	Short Bottom
	
	66
	TL
	495
	410
	Field
	0
	2
	23
	Arable
	FORESTER, EBENEZER
	Forester, Ebenezer
	

	Pot Ash Close
	
	11
	TL
	485
	395
	Close
	4
	2
	34
	Pasture
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	Northern part is 'Pipers' (1 acre, Rolls, 1791)

	Pasture and Grove
	
	14
	TL
	486
	395
	Close
	7
	1
	35
	Pasture
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Pomfretts
	
	17
	TL
	487
	396
	Close
	0
	3
	21
	Pasture
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	George Pomfret, 1573, Bodleian

	Outside Shot (pt)
	
	67-73
	TL
	493
	409
	Field
	4
	1
	4
	Arable
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Gypson Hedge Shot
	
	178-181
	TL
	493
	410
	Field
	13
	0
	33
	Arable
	Perry, Nehemiah & Rebecca
	Perry,Nehemiah & Rebecca
	

	Swallows Bottom
	
	169-177, 197-8
	TL
	496
	413
	Field
	27
	1
	36
	Arable
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert; Hancett, John
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert; Hancett, John
	Henry Swallowe, 1573, Bodleian. 

	Coplar Pen (part of)
	
	132
	TL
	493
	418
	Field
	2
	1
	16
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Coplar Pen (part of)
	
	133
	TL
	493
	420
	Field
	10
	1
	20
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Hart Piece
	
	151
	TL
	491
	408
	
	7
	1
	36
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Fox Hole Pen
	
	41
	TL
	493
	404
	Field
	1
	2
	11
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Meadow Field
	
	93-131, 134-150
	TL
	490
	414
	Field
	125
	3
	39
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah & Rebecca; Wakefield, Robert (pt) 
	Perry, Nehemiah & Rebecca; another
	

	Tare Pen Shot
	
	24, 26-29
	TL
	486
	403
	Field
	11
	2
	5
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Claypit Shot
	
	43-50
	TL
	494
	402
	Field
	17
	0
	7
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Fulbourne Shot
	
	51-57
	TL
	495
	405
	Field
	19
	2
	7
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Outside Shot (pt)
	
	58-64
	TL
	496
	407
	Field
	25
	2
	10
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Little Field
	
	65, 81, 74-84
	TL
	492
	407
	Field
	33
	0
	23
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	Abuttals of field to E. are Outside Shot (1), Fulbourne Shot, Foxhall Pen, Claypit Shot. Fld Nos 65,81,84 owned by W. Forbes.

	Fifteen Acre Shot
	
	85-92
	TL
	489
	407
	Field
	30
	0
	21
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt)
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Lower Eighteen Acre Shot
	
	30-40
	TL
	487
	403
	Field
	28
	3
	17
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes (pt); Perry, Nehemiah (pt); Perry, Rebecca (pt)
	
	

	Streathall Wood
	
	1
	TL
	483
	399
	Wood
	30
	3
	1
	Wood
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	Abuttals to E are: 18 Acres, Sour Close, Home Pasture, Burnt Close.

	Round Grove
	
	10
	TL
	484
	395
	Wood
	2
	1
	11
	Wood
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Dovehouse Field & Grove
	
	18
	TL
	486
	398
	Field
	8
	0
	8
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Great Batts (two adjacent parts)
	
	19,21
	TL
	487
	398
	Field
	36
	2
	3
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	2 adjacent pts of field are split into 19a 1r 24p and 17a 19p.

	Sour Close
	
	2
	TL
	484
	400
	Close
	6
	0
	36
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Long Pen
	
	20
	TL
	487
	400
	Field
	2
	2
	28
	Pasture
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Side Hill
	
	22
	TL
	492
	402
	Field
	17
	1
	15
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	The Eighteen Acres & Headland
	
	23,25
	TL
	487
	401
	Field
	17
	3
	0
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	Fields are split into 17a 8p and 2r 32p.

	Church Field and Grove
	
	5
	TL
	484
	400
	Close
	3
	1
	29
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Home Pasture
	
	6
	TL
	484
	399
	Close
	5
	3
	1
	Pasture
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Burnt Grove
	
	7
	TL
	484
	397
	Wood
	1
	1
	6
	Wood
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Burnt Close
	
	8
	TL
	483
	397
	Close
	2
	1
	12
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Oak Pasture
	
	9
	TL
	484
	396
	Close
	6
	1
	17
	Pasture
	Raymond, William Forbes, Archdeacon
	PERRY, NEHEMIAH
	

	Mile Bush Shot
	
	152-168
	TL
	404
	411
	Field
	20
	3
	31
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes; Perry, Nehemiah & Rebecca
	Perry,Nehemiah & Rebecca
	

	Coplar Bank Shot
	
	182-196
	TL
	493
	414
	Field
	24
	0
	24
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes; Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert
	"Coplar" is Coploe Hill. Coplowe Field,Shot, Penn in 1653, 1749 (Private collection, David Melford, Manor Rolls)

	Coplar Hill Shot
	
	199, 202-9, 211-215, 218-223, 226   
	TL
	496
	418
	Field
	32
	0
	14
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes; Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert
	

	Coplar Hill
	
	200-1, 210, 216-7, 224-5, 227
	TL
	496
	421
	Field
	13
	1
	8
	Arable
	Raymond, William Forbes; Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert; Forester, Ebenezer
	Perry, Nehemiah; Wakefield, Robert; Forester, Ebenezer
	

	Maple Stile Field
	
	
	TL
	455
	415
	Field
	338
	0
	0
	
	Tithe Improprietors
	
	Area to S now in Elmdon, bounded by steep bank,?old par bdy.Also par bdy bank between Chrishall & Ickleton (TL4541).

	Mill Field
	
	
	TL
	448
	413
	Field
	144
	3
	25
	
	Tithe Improprietors; Vicar for Tithes
	
	

	Tileburn Field
	
	
	TL
	449
	389
	Field
	5
	0
	0
	
	Various
	
	


For abbreviations see Reaney, P., Place-names of Essex, Cambridge, 1935; and Kemble, J., Essex Place-names, Places, Streets & People, Historical Publications, London, 2007.
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Tithe Commutation Map 1848
By ancient custom, any single landholding always consisted of strips dispersed
throughout the parish fields so that no individual monopolised the best land.
This has been illustrated by hatching the 46 acres 1 rood 2 perches of Glebe
land as it was distributed in 1887 among the total of 227 parcels.
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Strethall Parish in the County of Essex.





O.S. map c1880. 6”=1mile, Sheet 2
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